
 
 

Joint Committee of the Planning Board and 
Planning, Licenses & Development Committee 

 
AMENDED 

 
Monday, September 8, 2025 7:30 PM City Hall, 2nd Floor Council Chambers 
 
A. AGENDA ITEMS 

 
1. Roll Call 

2. Approval of Meeting Minutes – July 14, 2025 

3. Public Workshops: 

a. Ordinance O-2025-28 Relating to Zone Change. Petitioner, Adam Wright, proposes to 
amend the Zoning Map of the City of Keene by changing the zoning designation of the 
properties located at 0 Winchester St (TMP #592-019-000), 291 Winchester St (TMP # 
592-020-000), 371 Pearl St (TMP #592-021-000), 305 Winchester St (TMP #593-003-000), 
363 Pearl St (TMP #593-004-000), 347 Pearl St (TMP #593-005-000), 339 Pearl St (TMP 
#593-006-000), and 331 Pearl St (TMP #593-007-000) from Low Density to Commerce. 
The total area of land that would be impacted by this request is ~2.6 ac.  

b. Ordinance O-2025-29 Relating to Cross Site Access Exception from the Parking Lot 
Pavement Setback. Petitioner, City of Keene Community Development Department, 
proposes to amend Sec. 9.4.2.A of the LDC to create an exception to the parking lot 
pavement setback requirement to allow for cross site access drive aisles across property 
lines. 

4. New Business 

5. Next Meeting – October 14, 2025 

 
B. MORE TIME ITEMS 

 
1. Private Roads 
2. Neighborhood / Activity Core areas (“Neighborhood Nodes”) 
3. Short Term Rental Properties 

 
A. ADJOURNMENT 

 
 

1 of 31



DRAFT 

Page 1 of 12 
 

City of Keene 1 

New Hampshire 2 

 3 

 4 

JOINT PLANNING BOARD/ 5 

PLANNING, LICENSES AND DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE 6 

MEETING MINUTES 7 

 8 

Monday, July 14, 2025 
 
Planning Board  
Members Present: 

Harold Farrington, Chair 
Roberta Mastrogiovanni, Vice Chair  
Mayor Jay V. Kahn 
Councilor Michael Remy 
Armando Rangel 
Kenneth Kost 
Stephon Mehu, Alternate 
 
Planning Board  
Members Not Present: 
Sarah Vezzani 
Ryan Clancy 
Michael Hoefer, Alternate 
Randyn Markelon, Alternate 
Tammy Adams, Alternate 
 
 

6:30 PM 
 

Planning, Licenses & 
Development Committee 

Members Present: 
Kate M. Bosley, Chair 
Robert C. Williams  
Edward J. Haas 
 
Planning, Licenses & 
Development Committee 

Members Not Present: 
Philip M. Jones, Vice Chair 
Andrew M. Madison 
 
 

Council Chambers, 
                                    City Hall 
Staff Present: 
Mari Brunner, Senior Planner 

 
 

   
 9 

 10 

I) Roll Call 11 

 12 

Chair Bosley called the meeting to order at 6:46 PM and a roll call was taken. Mr.  Mehu was 13 
invited to join the meeting as a voting member. 14 
 15 
II) Approval of Meeting Minutes – June 9, 2025 16 

 17 

A motion was made by Councilor Haas to accept the June 9, 2025 meeting minutes. The motion 18 
was seconded by Councilor Williams. 19 
 20 
Mayor Kahn offered the following corrections: 21 
Page 220, first paragraph, last line – word “wan” should be corrected to read as “was”. 22 
Page 10, Line 403 – Correction to Councilor Remy’s name. 23 
Line 514 – instead of “above the ground floor” it should say “on the ground floor” 24 
 25 

2 of 31



PB-PLD Meeting Minutes  DRAFT 
July 14, 2025 

Page 2 of 12 
 

Councilor Farrington noted – Councilor Williams needs to be noted as being present at the 26 
meeting. 27 

 28 
The motion made by Councilor Haas was unanimously approved. 29 

 30 

 31 

III) Continued Public Workshops:  32 

a. Ordinance O-2025-20 Relating to Setbacks and Build-to Dimensions. Petitioner, 33 
City of Keene Community Development Department, proposes to amend Sec. 1.3.3 of the LDC 34 
to clarify that the Front, Side, and Rear setbacks apply to any building or structure on a lot. 35 
Further, this ordinance proposes to amend the definitions for “Build-To Line” and “Build-To 36 
Zone” (BTZ) to state that they apply to any principal structure with some exceptions. Lastly, this 37 
ordinance proposes to amend Sec. 8.4.1.C to state that accessory structures shall not be located in 38 
the BTZ. 39 
 40 

Senior Planner Mari Brunner addressed the Committee. Ms. Brunner referred to page 26 in the 41 
packet and stated to change “any” to “all.” She then added that this ordinance came from Staff in 42 
response to an interpretation from the Zoning Board of Adjustment regarding the definitions for 43 
Build-To Zone and front setbacks where they made the determination that because the definition 44 
uses the phrase “a building,” that the definition only applies to one building on a lot. They asked 45 
Staff to come back with a clarification. It was originally proposed to say any building, but the 46 
revised version says all buildings or structures. 47 
 48 
The Committee also discussed the following concept under Build-To Zone: the BTZ only applies 49 
to all principal buildings or structures with the carve out for buildings that are not able to be 50 
placed in the Build-To Zone because of the presence of other principal buildings or structures. 51 
The change from last time was to also include proposed buildings. It now reads Build-To Zone is 52 
the area on a lot, measured perpendicularly from the lot line, within which all principal 53 
buildings or structures must locate, unless they cannot be located within the Build-To Zone, due 54 
to the presence of existing or proposed principal buildings or structures. 55 
 56 
Ms. Brunner noted the next change that was presented last time was to clarify that we don't want 57 
accessory buildings in the Build-To Zone as it would create a hardship for property owners. 58 
 59 
She indicated Staff also went through the code in any place where it mentions a Build-To Zone 60 
or a Build-To Line dimensional requirement but labels it as a setback. It has now been changed 61 
to match what it actually is. Language also does not reference maximum distance, it only refers 62 
to minimum distance in the setbacks. 63 
 64 
With that the Chair asked for public comment.  65 
 66 
Mr. Jared Goodell of 160 Emerald Street addressed the Committee and asked permission to 67 
address a few questions to Staff. He noted in the language in I a. it says that a building setback is 68 
the required minimum distance all buildings or structures must be located from a lot line which 69 
is an occupied and unrestricted by any portion of the building or structure, unless expressly 70 
permitted by this LDC.  Ms. Brunner in response stated the intent here is to completely separate 71 
setbacks from Build-To dimensional requirements. This would not apply to a Build-To Zone or a 72 
Build-To Line.  Chair Bosley added this is an attempt to start severing the blurriness between the 73 

3 of 31



PB-PLD Meeting Minutes  DRAFT 
July 14, 2025 

Page 3 of 12 
 

term Setback, Build-To Zones and Build-To Lines; it is just for buildings that would be subject to 74 
setbacks. Mr. Goodell stated his concern is that in the residential districts, setbacks are an issue 75 
but Build-To Line and Build-To Zone isn’t necessarily in the residential district and asked in the 76 
residential districts, if you can still build multiple structures on one lot because it is not expressly 77 
permitted by the LDC. Ms. Brunner stated the definition of setback does not control the number 78 
of houses that can be placed on a lot, but in the City of Keene, in the residential district, only one 79 
principal structure is permitted per lot. However, you are permitted accessory buildings. 80 
 81 
Mr. Goodell next referred to language for Build-To Line (item C) and Build-To Zone (item e). 82 
The language is all principal buildings or structures. He noted principal buildings is a defined 83 
term, 84 
structures is a defined term, and principal structures is a defined term. 85 
He asked if the term principal buildings or structures means principal building or structures as 86 
defined; does structures mean principal structure as it is written now. Ms. Brunner stated that 87 
was the intent. The Chair asked whether there was definition difference between structure and 88 
principal structure. Mr. Goodell stated a principal building or principal structure is the same 89 
definition: structure that is central to the fundamental uses of the property and is not accessory 90 
to the use of another structure on the same premises. Whereas a structure is anything 91 
constructed or erected which requires location on or in the ground, or attached to something 92 
having location on or in the ground, including signs, billboards, fences and swimming pools. 93 
He noted a fence would be considered a structure. The Chair felt this would be something that 94 
should be amended.  95 
 96 
Mr. Goodell next referred to the term “proposed” and stated he is aware this was added because 97 
of a question that he had raised at the previous meeting: Item E Build-To Zone. He stated he 98 
wanted to be clear on what proposed means. If there is a lot and somebody wants to build three 99 
structures on it, but they want to construct the one in the rear first, this is allowed outside of the 100 
Build-To Zone. He felt somebody could propose something and abandon it and asked whether 101 
there was a cleaner way to meet this intent. Ms. Brunner explained, in the code, it is impossible 102 
to write it so that it will capture every situation. She stated she was open to suggestions for 103 
wording it, but at the end of the day, there is always going to have to be some interpretation. She 104 
explained what she was trying to address with this is a situation where a development that was 105 
going to be happening simultaneously, and it includes buildings that are proposed within the 106 
Build-To Zone. 107 
 108 
Councilor Remy suggested a bond to make sure the rest of the project gets completed. 109 
 110 
Councilor Haas asked whether the Planning Board reviews any financials of developers when 111 
they propose a project such as this. Planning Chair Farrington stated the Planning Board does not 112 
review financials for applicants but there are a number of situations where security is required 113 
for things like boundaries and landscaping. 114 
 115 
Mr. Kost felt when someone is constructing a multifamily primary building, if they first 116 
construct something in the rear and stop construction they will end up leaving a lot of value on 117 
the table and felt that would be an incentive to complete the work. 118 
 119 
Chair Bosley asked whether there were fines or violations outlined in the LDC if someone was 120 
not in compliance. Ms. Brunner stated if it is something that is shown on an approved site plan 121 

4 of 31



PB-PLD Meeting Minutes  DRAFT 
July 14, 2025 

Page 4 of 12 
 

and they are not in compliance with their site plan, then there is technically an enforcement 122 
mechanism but added it takes a lot of Staff effort. With reference to security, she stated the City 123 
only imposes security that the City can use to replace, for instance, landscaping or to address 124 
stormwater issues. However, for constructing a building, Staff would not recommend requiring a 125 
security. 126 
 127 
Mr. Goodell suggested a phased permit to make sure the different items are completed. For 128 
example, if this item was under the purview of the Planning Board, add a condition that the 129 
principal building within the Build-To Zone has to be completed within two years. 130 
 131 
Councilor Haas felt the Committee is working on two separate issues here. One is the Build-To 132 
Zone or Build-To Line, which is an executable building requirement. The other is the financial 133 
stability of the developer, which the Committee does not have a way to consider; if a developer 134 
starts a project but can’t moved forward due to financial constraints, it could result in the City 135 
seizing the property or looking at other financial remedies, which he felt needs to be separate 136 
from what the Committee is trying to address in the Land Development Code. 137 
 138 
Mr. Goodell reiterated that right now it says “proposed,” which means somebody could go to the 139 
4th floor and indicate that they are going to construct something in the future, but right now a 140 
building will be constructed in the rear of the site.  141 
 142 
Mr. George Hansel of 84 Elm Street addressed the Committee next and stated he felt the 143 
Committee was overcomplicating the Build-To Line. He stated he sees the Build-To Line as 144 
someone who is looking at the code and trying construct a development or design a site plan. He 145 
stated 146 
for the Build-To Zone, he understood that as, if you get a building into the zone, then the City 147 
should be satisfied from that perspective. He felt it is really up to the designer to decide whether 148 
it is one building, two buildings or anything else. He cautioned the Committee of trying to 149 
overregulate and try to design the project. Mr. Hansel pointed out that if he was constructing 150 
three  151 
buildings on a lot and one of them was in the Build-To Zone, he has met the requirement. 152 
Chair Bosley in response stated the Committee is trying to accomplish that exact fact and felt the 153 
language being proposed does allow for that. She noted the concern is an unethical builder who 154 
uses the word “proposed” to only construct a building in the rear of the lot which is not in the 155 
Build-To Zone, even though they proposed additional buildings in the Build-To Zone.   156 
What is being required is that a structure be built in the Build-To Zone and other structures can 157 
be constructed on the lot. 158 
 159 
Mr. Hansel suggested the following language: Build-To Zone in an area of the lot measured 160 
perpendicularly from the line within which one principal building or principal structure must 161 
locate. 162 
He felt the language being proposed at the present time is problematic. 163 
With no further comments, the Chair closed the public hearing. 164 
 165 
Councilor Remy questioned why the Committee did not consider language that would indicate if 166 
there was a very wide lot and three buildings could be at the Build-To Line, unless there was a 167 
need to locate, for example, a driveway.  He felt the intent was to construct as much to the Build-168 
To Zone as possible. 169 

5 of 31



PB-PLD Meeting Minutes  DRAFT 
July 14, 2025 

Page 5 of 12 
 

Mr. Hansel responded by saying at the present time, in the code, you have the Build-To Zone and 170 
then you have a percentage. In certain districts, there is a percentage of frontage that has to be 171 
met. Ms. Brunner stated this is only for the building facade. It is not the percentage of the lot. 172 
Mr. Hansel agreed and added this is where the City is indicating its preference for a certain 173 
percentage of the building facade to be taking up the frontage of the lot line. 174 
 175 
Mr. Kost felt if you require that only 50% of a lot has to be along the Build-To Line, the City 176 
will end up with these “broken tooth” kind of streetscapes and the City would lose the urban 177 
structure effect it is trying to achieve. If there are multiple buildings and you fill up the front, but 178 
you have a deep enough lot, there could then be structures located to the rear.  179 
 180 
The Chair stated she agrees with Staff that the City cannot regulate for every potential issue and 181 
also cannot regulate for an unethical person. She felt there needs to be another mechanism to 182 
enforce something like that. 183 
 184 
Councilor Haas stated he stumbled over the word or when the Committee was discussing 185 
principal buildings or structures; whether principal was inclusive as an either/or, or would the 186 
separate structures be interpreted as not being principal and likes idea of applying principal to 187 
both. Councilor Remy felt this should be addressed as a scrivener's error and not have to go 188 
through an amendment. Ms. Brunner noted this ordinance is not yet an A version and changes 189 
can be made at this time.  190 
 191 
A motion was made by Mayor Kahn that the Joint Committee suggest an amendment to sections 192 
C and E for Ordinance O-2025-20-A that adds the word principle in front of structures as well as 193 
including all red line changes. The motion was seconded by Kenneth Kost and carried on a 194 
unanimous vote.  195 
 196 
A motion was made by Harold Farrington that the Planning Board finds that Ordinance O-2025-197 
20-A is consistent with the Master Plan. The motion was seconded by Roberta Mastrogiovanni 198 
and was unanimously approved. 199 
 200 
A motion was made by Councilor Williams that the PLD Committee request the Mayor set a 201 
public hearing on Ordinance O-2025-20-A. The motion was seconded by Councilor Haas and 202 
was unanimously approved. 203 
 204 
b. Ordinance O-2025-15 Relating to Amendments to the Land Development Code to 205 
Encourage Housing Development. Petitioner Jared Goodell proposes to amend various sections 206 
of the LDC to modify the definitions of the Front, Side, and Rear Setbacks and the Build-to 207 
Zone; Reduce the minimum lot size in the Neighborhood Business District to 5,000 sf; Increase 208 
the density allowed in the Medium Density District to 6 units per lot; Allow dwelling units on 209 
the ground floor in the Downtown Growth District for lots with frontage on “Type B” streets; 210 
and, Establish rules for applying zoning regulations to split-zoned parcels. The sections proposed 211 
to be modified include 1.3.3, 5.3.1, 5.3.2, 8.3.1(C), and 19.2 of the LDC. 212 
 213 
Ms. Brunner referred to Page 30 and stated the first change was to completely remove the 214 
proposed changes to the setbacks and Build-To Line and Zones and instead to have them all in 215 
one ordinance. 216 
 217 

6 of 31



PB-PLD Meeting Minutes  DRAFT 
July 14, 2025 

Page 6 of 12 
 

The second item was the purpose of the Neighborhood Business District. At the last workshop, 218 
one of the items that Staff raised was the fact that the purpose statement very intentionally calls 219 
Neighborhood Business District an additional Downtown District and explained that the intent is 220 
to make sure it is clear that it is eligible for the 79-E Program. Based on the applicant’s 221 
testimony, the reasoning behind changing this purpose statement was to make sure that it refers 222 
to the fact that Residential Uses are allowed in this District. The amended language would read 223 
as follows: 224 
The Neighborhood Business District is intended to serve as an additional Downtown Zoning 225 
District that promotes smaller sized businesses, professional uses and residential uses, which 226 
support adjacent neighborhoods and workplaces with an orientation toward pedestrian and 227 
bicycle access. Some uses are restricted in size to limit adverse impacts on nearby residences 228 
and to maintain a pedestrian scale of development. All uses in this district shall have City water 229 
and sewer service. 230 
 231 
Ms. Brunner stated the next change is with respect to the minimum lot area as discussed at the 232 
last workshop. Currently 50% of the parcels in this district are less than 8,000 square feet in size 233 
and the lot size goes down to 5,000 square feet. Staff felt for a 5,000 square foot lot, it might be 234 
prudent to also reduce the setbacks to make sure the lots are actually buildable. What is being 235 
proposed is as follows: to change the front Build-To Zone to be zero to 10 feet, reducethe 236 
minimum rear setback to 10 feet, 237 
etain the corner side Build-To Zone as a 5 to 10 foot, and reducethe minimum interior side 238 
setback to five feet. 239 
Just for those smaller lots to open up more land to be developed. 240 
 241 
The Mayor stated he is in favor of what is being proposed, except for the five-foot side setback. 242 
He explained maintaining a three-story building only with a five-foot setback using a ladder 243 
could be difficult. 244 
 245 
Chair Bosley asked for an example of five-foot setback elsewhere in the City. Ms. Brunner did 246 
not think the City has five-foot setbacks in existance anywhere else in the City but there are 247 
plenty of locations with zero-foot setbacks, such as the Cottage Court.  248 
Chair Bosley felt workers could potentially use staging if they needed to access upper floors or 249 
ladders that could be secured to the roof.  Ms. Brunner stated she could check with building code 250 
Staff how a situation such a this could be handled. 251 
 252 
Councilor Remy referred to a Scrivener's error and to strike out 8,000. 253 
Councilor Haas felt the five-foot setback would be further complicated should there be a fence 254 
on the property line, which could reduce it down to a three-foot setback, making it more difficult 255 
to get on a ladder,  256 
 257 
Ms. Brunner referred to the next section with the definition of multifamily dwelling. The original 258 
proposal states that up to six dwelling units would be allowed if each dwelling unit is not more 259 
than 600 square feet in gross floor area. She stated after discussing all the other things that 260 
control unit size, the Committee decided to go up to 600 square feet and strike the square foot 261 
requirement. There was also some discussion about requiring more than three units to go to the 262 
Planning Board. Ms. Brunner stated Staff is recommending against that, only because there can 263 
be situations where, for example, an adaptive reuse of the building where it is internal conversion 264 
and there are no changes to the site. 265 

7 of 31



PB-PLD Meeting Minutes  DRAFT 
July 14, 2025 

Page 7 of 12 
 

 266 

The other change to the definition of multifamily was with respect to allowing units on the 267 
ground floor. Based on the discussion at the last meeting, it now reads, in the Downtown Growth 268 
District, while units may be permitted on the ground floor if located behind tenantable 269 
commercial space. Ms. Brunner explained this takes out the different street types as long as there 270 
is some sort of commercial space along the street and does not get into how deep that space 271 
needs to be. 272 
 273 
The Mayor referred to the idea of six units on a Medium Density lot and stated he is referring to 274 
the east side neighborhood and their concerns with density. He felt six units seemed like a lot on 275 
a 5,000 square foot lot and the neighborhood concern about creating more density in the 276 
neighborhood.  277 
 278 
Chair Bosley stated it was discussed at the last meeting that there is a mechanism created to 279 
enable this type of development, which is referred to as Cottage Court. However, if you 280 
start changing the exterior of the building, amount of impervious surface, or parking 281 
requirements it would trigger Planning Board review, which does give the public an opportunity 282 
for input.   283 
 284 
Mr. Kost stated he had raised the concern about parking. For example, if there are going to be six 285 
units, there is going to be more parking required, which could eventually see people parking on 286 
grass and on impervious surfaces. Chair Bosley clarified that the City of Keene code does not 287 
allow people to park on grass or impervious surface, and this is something code enforcement 288 
would address. 289 
She agreed it does happen. She went on to say that there is going to be state legislation that is 290 
going to change the density in our neighborhoods, regardless of the number of units that are 291 
being allowed. The legislation that is passed allows for up to 16 unrelated people to live in a unit 292 
instead of four. The Chair indicated this is why the Committee needs to start looking at what the 293 
definition of a unit means. The Chair referred to example of units that are non-conforming now 294 
that could be conforming for rental purposes and felt this is something the City should try and 295 
get ahead of based on living conditions these units would start causing.  296 
 297 
Councilor Haas asked whether there is a limit to living units in any other district. Ms.  Brunner 298 
stated in the Low-Density district and the Rural District you are only allowed to have a single-299 
family home as well as an ADU. This would mean up to two units in those districts. Medium 300 
Density is the next one, which is currently at three units, and High Density does not have a cap.  301 
 302 
Councilor Williams stated, as a resident of the east side, some of these large buildings in the past 303 
had quite a few more people living in them than they do today. He felt there is a certain amount 304 
of logic in figuring out how we can partition those buildings so that they can fit the number of 305 
people in which they used to fit. 306 
 307 
Ms. Brunner continued with her presentation and asked if there were any questions about the 308 
tenantable commercial space in the Downtown Growth District. 309 
 310 
Mr. Kost stated he likes the idea of street facing retail or other things that are interesting for 311 
people to look at and the idea of locating residential in the rear. He stated his concern is 312 
something he has seen in dynamic cities that are growing and are active. For example, where 313 

8 of 31



PB-PLD Meeting Minutes  DRAFT 
July 14, 2025 

Page 8 of 12 
 

there are streets of empty storefronts that cannot be filled with retail uses. The Chair stated this is 314 
a living document that can be revisited at any time if the City sees there are such problems 315 
happening.  316 
 317 
The next item Ms. Brunner addressed is with respect to parcels that fall into more than one 318 
Zoning District. 319 
The first change was to the nonconformity section of the code and to the rules of interpretation. 320 
The reason for this is a lot that is split-zoned is not necessarily non-conforming. 321 
The proposal is to move it to section 1.3 of Article 1: Rules of Measurement and Exceptions. 322 
Ms. Brunner stated that in reviewing what was discussed at the last meeting, the language did not 323 
quite accomplish what she said it did in the meeting. The language states as follows: 324 
Where an existing lot of record falls into more than one zoning district, the provisions of each 325 
district shall be applied separately to each portion of the lot. With the following exception:  326 
A. For lots or portions thereof, which are not large enough to be subdivided, the property owner 327 
may choose to apply the provisions of the district which comprises the largest share of the lot, to 328 
the portions of the lot that cannot be subdivided. 329 
Under this language, there are some directions to the interpreter that would normally be the 330 
Zoning Administrator as to what this means. 331 
 332 
For the purposes of this subsection, only when determining if a lot or portion thereof is large 333 
enough to be subdivided, the following shall be considered:  334 
1. Each portion of the lot in each zoning district shall be evaluated separately to determine 335 
whether new legal lots could be created that are not split zoned. 336 
2. Any portion of a lot that could be subdivided legally based on the underlying zoning district 337 
shall comply with requirements of the underlying zoning district. 338 
 339 
Ms. Brunner explained Split-Zone parcels happen for a variety of reasons, such as through 340 
voluntary mergers, boundary line adjustments, etc. A property owner can get lots that fall into 341 
more than one Zoning District. Ms. Brunner noted to a rendering and stated in this situation, the 342 
property owner has two options under these regulations. They could apply the requirements of 343 
the Low-Density District, the portion of the lot in yellow, and apply the Commerce District 344 
requirements to the portion of the lot that is shown in pink. Or they could choose to apply the 345 
provisions of the Low Density District to the entire lot, because the commerce portion is not 346 
large enough to be subdivided and be its own lot. 347 
Ms. Brunner referred to the Mint Car Wash site which is located in three different Zoning 348 
Districts. The purple section is in the Industrial Zone, the orange is in High Density and the pink 349 
is in Commerce. The orange portion (High Density) is large enough to be subdivided because the 350 
minimum lot size in High Density is only 6,000 square feet. The Commerce portion is about the 351 
same size as the High-Density portion, but it is not large enough to be subdivided because the 352 
minimum lot size for Commerce is 15,000 square feet. 353 
Under this language, the property owner could either have the provisions of High Density 354 
applied to the portion that is in High Density, Commerce portion to Commerce and the Industrial 355 
portion to Industrial, or they could apply the requirements of Industrial to the Commerce portion 356 
of the lot, but not the High-Density portion of the lot. The only option in this situation would be 357 
for the property owner is to go through a map amendment or live under these regulations. 358 
 359 
Councilor Haas asked whether Staff has had requests for actions such as what was just described. 360 

9 of 31



PB-PLD Meeting Minutes  DRAFT 
July 14, 2025 

Page 9 of 12 
 

Ms. Brunner stated the City has always applied the rules of the underlying Zoning District to 361 
each portion of the lot that is in that Zoning District. She stated this has happened many times, 362 
which causes hardship for the property owner. The property owner has had to apply for a 363 
variance or design the project under the current regulations.  She felt what is being proposed 364 
works and added that anything that gives guidance to providing flexibility is helpful. 365 
 366 
The Chair asked for comments from the Petitioner next. Mr. Jared Goodell of 160 Emerald Street 367 
began by stating that the additional Downtown Zoning District, which was added back to the 368 
purpose statement, would make sense to move it out of the Commerce Districts into Article 4, 369 
the Downtown Districts.  370 
At the present time it lives in Article 5, which is Commerce. 371 
 372 
With reference to the Mayor’s comments, Mr. Goodell noted the maximum heigh for  373 
Neighborhood Business is two stories, or 35 feet, and wasn’t sure if this would address the 374 
Mayor’s concerns.  375 
 376 
#3 - There was a discussion about the impact of a neighborhood and noted to what Councilor 377 

Williams stated that there are these large buildings, which are too big for what people need now. 378 

The intent is to repurpose those to be more efficient. 379 

In that same section, Item C, Downtown Growth District, dwelling units may be permitted on the 380 
ground floor if located behind tenantable commercial space. 381 
Mr. Goodell stated he wanted to make sure that it is known what “behind” means. He referred to 382 
a drawing and asked for clarification. Ms. Brunner stated it is meant to say that there is 383 
tenantable commercial space between the unit and the street. 384 
The Chair clarified if the facade was commercial space, a step back be required to have 385 
commercial space as well, running parallel with other residential space if those exist. Ms. 386 
Brunner stated the way it is written currently does not give that type of flexibility. 387 
 388 
Mr. Goodell asked for clarification of that language as he has a building configured like this 389 
(appendage on the side of the building) and he would like to rent for residential.  This concluded 390 
Mr. Goodell’s comments.  391 
 392 
Committee discussion was next. 393 
Chair Bosley stated the initial portion of this ordinance is stricken and rewritten under the City's 394 
ordinance that the Committee heard earlier. 395 
The new first item becomes the Neighborhood Business Definition. 396 
 397 
Item 2 is Minimum lot area change and there is an amendment to strike the 8,000. 398 
 399 
The Chair asked whether there was any concern about changing the setbacks that the Mayor 400 
raised. The Chair stated she did look at a solution to the problem, which would be scaffolding, 401 
usually about 18 inches wide. 402 
 403 
The Mayor stated his understanding is that Staff would discuss this issue with code enforcement 404 
Staff and bring it back to the Committee. He agreed scaffolding is an option but many repair and 405 
maintenance services don’t use or own scaffolding. He stated he also agrees with Councilor 406 
Haas’ concern with fencing. Chair Bosley felt a decision should be made tonight because this 407 
ordinance goes to Council, then a public hearing will be scheduled after which the item goes 408 

10 of 31



PB-PLD Meeting Minutes  DRAFT 
July 14, 2025 

Page 10 of 12 
 

before the PLD Committee. If changes are made at the PLD Committee, it will come back before 409 
the Joint Committee again.  She added she is comfortable with five feet and added there are 410 
many buildings in the City with 0-foot setbacks that people are able to access using creative 411 
solutions, like scaffolding. 412 
 413 
Councilor Remy stated he agrees with the Chair because, at times, someone would construct a 414 
square building or a rectangular building on a non-square lot. He felt this would be up to a 415 
property owner for the options they would use to access and maintain their building. 416 
 417 
Ms. Mastrogiovanni did not feel five was enough room and felt there could be safety concerns. 418 
She stated she understands the need to compress as much as we can, but if we start shrinking 419 
everything down she wasn’t sure what that would look like.  420 
 421 
Councilor Haas referred to the five-foot setback issue and raised the issue about additional 422 
construction that goes into a firewall.  He added that without knowing about the different 423 
properties that might be available under five feet, he was not uncomfortable with changing it. 424 
The Chair stated, for example, in the firewall scenario, a developer could choose not to go with 425 
five feet. She felt this was not a requirement, it is an opportunity. 426 
 427 
Mr. Kost noted the original intent of this ordinance was to get more buildable space and get more 428 
living units. Maintenance was one consideration but felt the ordinance should be voted on and 429 
then look at other cities or towns and see how it is being handled.  430 
 431 
A motion was made by Councilor Remy that the Joint Committee move to amend. 432 
Ordinance 0-2025-15 to align with all recommended Staff changes, including adjusting the 433 
minimum interior side setback to five feet. The motion was seconded by Kenneth Kost. The 434 
motion carried on a 9-1 with Mayor Kahn voting in opposition. 435 
 436 
Ms. Brunner asked whether the Committee was comfortable with what Mr. Goodell had raised 437 
regarding the tenantable space being located behind a commercial space (the location he had 438 
indicated in his drawing, offset from the main property). Councilor Remy stated his motion was 439 
to amend the A version and felt it could be amended further. Chair Bosley did not feel that it is 440 
something that has been considered in the past. Councilor Haas stated the Committee had 441 
skipped over 1 and 2 under Item 3. The Chair stated it was all amended under the A version the 442 
Committee just voted on. Councilor Williams felt it would be prudent to edit that idea of what 443 
“behind” is, as long as it is behind the Build-To Zone. The Chair asked Staff if there was a 444 
Build-To Zone in Downtown Growth. Ms. Brunner answered in the affirmative and stated she 445 
didn’t have a copy of the code but for purposes of discussion, it could be zero to five feet for a 446 
Type A and zero to 10 feet for a Type B. Another option could be to say that X percentage of the 447 
building along the street facade has to be tenantable commercial space. She stated she would like 448 
to review that number further. Councilor Remy stated it could also say as long as it is setback 449 
from tenantable commercial space. 450 
 451 
Councilor Haas asked whether the City has a percentage factor in the Downtown Growth 452 
District; for example, a percentage factor of how much of the building needs to be in the Build-453 
To Zone or on the Build-To Line. 454 
Chair Farrington stated in the LDC for a Type A street it is a zero to five-foot Build-To Zone and 455 
for Type B Street it is 5 to 15-foot Build-To Zone, unless located on a corner lot. Ms. Brunner 456 

11 of 31



PB-PLD Meeting Minutes  DRAFT 
July 14, 2025 

Page 11 of 12 
 

added the minimum Type A street Build-To Percentage is 80% and the minimum Type B street 457 
is 60%. 458 
Public space gets count towards the Build-To Percentage. 459 
 460 
Mr. Kost clarified the intent of that is to have a facade along the street, which is a Build-To 461 
Zone,  462 
although it does allow indentations, public space, etc. 463 
 464 
Chair Bosley stated the impetus behind what is being discussed is to try to increase the number 465 
of residential units that we can get into neighborhoods, and this is why in the Commercial Zone, 466 
something similar was adopted. She stated she is comfortable with what Councilor Williams 467 
suggested if the building is set back and we have that street frontage. 468 
 469 
A motion was made by Chair Bosley to amend the language in Section 3, 2C. in the Downtown 470 
Growth District to state that dwelling units may be permitted on the ground floor if located 471 
behind tenantable commercial space or behind the Build-To Zone. The motion was seconded by 472 
Councilor Remy and was unanimously adopted.  473 
 474 
Councilor Haas stated he was not comfortable going to six dwelling units per lot in the Medium 475 
Density District. He stated he recognizes there are many large, not fully occupied homes in that 476 
area that could be filled out with more living spaces and encourages property owners to do that 477 
and create more housing units on their own. He felt the City does have vehicle to do this; through 478 
Planning Board review or through a Cottage Court application. He stated he was not comfortable 479 
opening up the neighborhood in this manner. This could cause a cascade of additional residents 480 
loading into the neighborhood. He stated he was in favor of densification and wants to see it 481 
brought forward but felt the council needs to take slower steps. 482 
 483 
He went on to say he is also concerned when it is stated there will be no change to impervious 484 
surfaces and parking and violations will be left up to code enforcement officials who he 485 
indicated are already challenged. Chair Bosley stated in order to get to six units, an occupancy 486 
permit for six units would need to be obtained with verifiable six parking spaces on the ground. 487 
She stated she agrees with Councilor Williams that large homes are not being used like they used 488 
to be and felt opportunities need to be created for young professionals. Councilor Haas stated he 489 
agrees but felt it needs to be done carefully and is always concerned with something being done 490 
by right. 491 
 492 
Mr. Kost stated that at times, these large homes tend to be neglected and locating six units could 493 
improve the homes. Councilor Williams stressed the importance of creating smaller units from 494 
these bigger homes to improve the housing crisis. 495 
 496 
A motion was made by Councilor Haas that the Joint Committee do not change Item 3. 2.A from 497 
three to six units and leave it at three units for now. The motion failed for lack of second. 498 
 499 
The Chair asked whether there were any changes to Split-zoning. There were no changes. 500 
 501 
A motion was made by Chair Bosley to amend the Ordinance to create an A Version. The motion 502 
was seconded by Councilor Williams and carried on a 9-1 vote with Councilor Haas voting in 503 
opposition. 504 

12 of 31



PB-PLD Meeting Minutes  DRAFT 
July 14, 2025 

Page 12 of 12 
 

 505 
Chair Farrington stated he felt that none of the changes being discussed had an impact on 506 
whether or not this conforms with the Master Plan. 507 
 508 
A motion was made by Harold Farrington that the Planning Board accepts the A version of the 509 
Ordinance O-2025-15 as being consistent with the Master Plan. 510 
The motion was seconded by Councilor Remy and was unanimously approved. 511 
 512 
A motion was made by Councilor Williams that the PLD Committee request the Mayor set a 513 
public hearing on Ordinance O-2025-15. 514 
The motion was seconded by Councilor Haas and was unanimously approved.  515 
 516 
 517 

IV) New Business  518 
 519 
None 520 

 521 
V) Next Meeting  522 

 523 
It was agreed that the next meeting would be on September 8, 2025. The August meeting will be 524 
cancelled due to Council’s vacation. 525 
 526 

VI) Adjournment 527 
 528 
There being no further business, Chair Bosley adjourned the meeting at 8:42 PM. 529 
 530 
Respectfully submitted by, 531 
Krishni Pahl, Minute Taker 532 
 533 
Reviewed and edited by, 534 
Emily Duseau, Planning Technician 535 

13 of 31



 Page 1 of 6 
 

Staff Report – Ordinance O-2025-28 

The Ordinance: 
This Ordinance proposes to 
amend the official Zoning Map of 
the City of Keene by changing the 
zoning designation of 8 parcels 
along Pearl Street and 
Winchester Street from Low 
Density (LD)  to Commerce 
(COM). The total land area that 
would be impacted by this 
request ~2.65 acres.  
 
Figure 1 shows the location of 
the subject parcels in red. Table 
1 includes a breakdown of the 
address, tax map parcel number, 
land area, ownership, and 
occupancy of each parcel 
included as part of this request. 
The Applicants for this proposed 
zoning map amendment are Adam Wright, one of the property owners, as well as a local land use 
consultant, Fieldstone Land Consultants.  
 
In rezoning decisions, the Petitioner’s intended use of the property should not be considered.  
Rather, the permitted uses allowed in the proposed district should be evaluated for their suitability 
on the site.  Additionally, the Board should consider and review: 

• Surrounding land use and zoning patterns;  
• The consistency of the proposed rezoning request with the Master Plan; 
• Existing and proposed zoning requirements; and, 
• Possible resulting impacts. 

 

 

Table 1. Lot Data for the Eight Subject Parcels Along Pearl St & Winchester St. 

Parcel Address 
Tax Map Parcel 

Number  
(TMP#) 

Parcel 
Size Property Owner Occupancy 

331 Pearl St 593-007-000 ~0.37-ac Michael C. Wright Two-Family 

339 Pearl St 593-006-000 ~0.31-ac Allan C. Bemis Existing 
Outbuilding 

347 Pearl St 593-005-000 ~0.39-ac Adam E. Wright Single Family 
363 Pearl St 593-004-000 ~0.60-ac Adam E. Wright Undeveloped Lot 
371 Pearl St 592-021-000 ~0.12-ac Adam E. Wright Single Family 

0 Winchester St 592-019-000 ~0.18-ac City of Keene Undeveloped Lot 
291 Winchester St 592-020-000 ~0.11-ac Adam E. Wright Single Family 
305 Winchester St 593-003-000 ~0.57-ac Stephen J. Allen 2-Family 

Figure 1. Aerial imagery from 2020 showing the eight subject 
parcels with frontage along Pearl St & Winchester St. 

14 of 31



 Page 2 of 6 
 

BACKGROUND / SURROUNDING LAND USE & ZONING PATTERNS: 

The subject parcels are located on the south side of Pearl St and west side of Winchester St 
directly to the west of the roundabout. The parcels contain a mix of uses ranging from single- and 
two-family homes to undeveloped lots. Access to these properties is from Winchester St and 
Pearl St. Adjacent uses include a mix of single-, two-, and multi-family dwelling units to the north 
and west. The Keene State College Winchester Street parking lot is located to the east and 
McDonald’s and other commercial uses, including restaurants and Riverside Shopping Plaza, are 
located to the south and southeast. 
 
The proposed Ordinance would extend the limits of the Commerce (COM) District further to the 
north. Zoning districts adjacent to the subject parcels include Low Density (LD) to the north and 
west and Commerce to the east and south. The Downtown Edge (DT-E) and High Density (HD) 
Districts begin ~500-ft to the northeast across the Ashuelot River. Another area of High Density 
is located ~810-ft to the west of the subject parcels along Pearl St. Figure 2 shows the location 
of the subject parcels in relation to the boundaries of these nearby zoning districts. 
 

MASTER PLAN CONSISTENCY: 
Community Vision: 
The Vision Focus Area that is most relevant to the proposed rezoning is Focus Area 1: A Quality 
Built Environment. This focus area contemplates the interconnection of the built environment and 
residents by focusing on specific goals relevant to both. Examples include striving to provide 
quality housing while continuing to sustain a vibrant downtown as well as maintaining 

Figure 2. Map showing the location of the subject parcels in relation to the boundaries of nearby zoning 
districts. 

15 of 31



 Page 3 of 6 
 

neighborhoods while also balancing growth and ensuring the provision of infrastructure. One way 
in which these types of goals can be achieved is by rezoning existing parcels that only allow for 
the construction of single-family homes to a commercial district.  
 
The proposed zoning change would expand the Commerce Zoning District further to the north, 
thereby providing an opportunity for potential developers to construct buildings containing a mix 
of dwelling units and commercial uses. Rezoning and redeveloping the subject parcels in this way 
could help provide a transition area between the existing homes in the Pearl Street neighborhood 
and the existing commercial amenities offered along Winchester St. All of these uses are able to 
be served by the existing municipal infrastructure in this area. 
 
Future Land Use Plan: 
The subject parcels are located in the “Winchester Street Strategic Planning Area” of the Future 
Land Us e Map. This area is described in the Master Plan as having “…opportunities for a mix of 
higher density housing and provision of retail and community services that transition to the Key 
Road commercial area along Winchester Street towards Keene State College and the Blake Street 
Neighborhood in the direction of Main Street.” The proposed zoning change would allow for the 
development of a myriad of uses on these parcels regardless of whether they are merged or 
developed as individual lots. Permitted uses would include multi-family apartment buildings with 
commercial uses on the first floor as well as a variety of other uses, including but not limited to 
offices, retail, and restaurants. 
 
This neighborhood also straddles the “Downtown Neighborhoods / Traditional Neighborhoods / 
Mixed-Use” and “Business / Industrial / Institutional / Live-Work” areas of the Future Land Use 
Map. The “Downtown Neighborhoods” area is identified as being best suited to accommodate 
“carefully planned growth and density.” Alternatively, the “Business” area of the Future Land Use 
Map is identified as being best suited for a mix of low-impact industrial and business uses in 
conjunction with “live/work artists’ space” where employees and business owners live in close 
proximity to their place of employment/business. It is stated that these businesses should strive 
to fit in with a “sensitivity to surrounding neighborhoods.”  
 
Housing Chapter: 
The Comprehensive Master Plan recognizes, “The community’s ability to improve upon its existing 
housing stock, create new housing opportunities across all income and lifestyles, balance the mix 
of rental and owner-occupied units…will continue to be a determining factor in Keene’s – and the 
region’s- health and prosperity. Overall, housing must be conveniently located, healthy, safe, and 
affordable.” The Housing Chapter discusses strategies that encourage a diverse housing stock 
that promotes good design and quality construction. This proposal would increase the 
opportunity for the creation of new, diverse housing options at an affordable price point in a 
location that is convenient for jobs, services, and downtown amenities. 
 

CHARACTERISTICS OF EXISTING & PROPOSED ZONING DISTRICTS: 
Intent of the Zoning Districts: 
The proposal is to convert eight existing parcels with frontage along Pearl St and Winchester St 
from the Low Density District to the Commerce District. A description of these districts from the 
Zoning Ordinance is included below. 

16 of 31



 Page 4 of 6 
 

• Current Zoning – Low Density: The Low Density (LD) District is intended to provide for low-
intensity single-family residential development. All uses in this district shall have City water 
and sewer service. 

• Proposed Zoning – Commerce: The Commerce (COM) District is intended to provide an 
area for intense commercial development that is accessed predominantly by vehicles. 
Shopping plazas and multiple businesses in one building would be typical in this district. All 
uses in this district shall have City water and sewer service. 

 
Based on these intent statements, the proposed zoning for the subject parcels could be 
appropriate in that City water and service are available via both Pearl St and Winchester St.  
 
District Uses: 
The permitted uses of the Low Density (LD) District 
(existing) and the Commerce (COM) District (proposed) 
differ significantly. Low Density allows for only single-
family dwellings by right and up to 6-unit townhomes per 
building with limited commercial uses through the 
Cottage Court Overlay Development (CCOD) Conditional 
Use Permit Process (CUP).  
 
Alternatively, the Commerce District (proposed) only 
allows for multi-family housing as well as a variety of 
other commercial, industrial, open space, infrastructure, 
and transportation uses. Table 2 shows the permitted 
principal uses for the Low Density District and Table 3 
shows the principal permitted uses for the Commerce 
District. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Table 2. Permitted Principal Uses in the 
Low Density District. 

 

17 of 31



 Page 5 of 6 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Dimensional Requirements:  
Table 4 highlights the zoning dimensional requirements for the Commerce and Low Density 
Districts. The minimum road frontage and rear setback requirements are similar, but overall the 
dimensional requirements of the two districts reflect their differences in allowed uses. The Low 
Density District has a “Minimum Lot Width at Building Line,” requirement, which part of the 
dimensional standards in all residential districts in the City of Keene, but is not required in any 
other districts. The Low Density District also allows for smaller minimum lot sizes with building 
setbacks ranging from 10-20 ft in size and has a maximum lot coverage allowance of 45%. In 

Table 3. Permitted Principal Uses in the Commerce District. 
 

18 of 31



 Page 6 of 6 
 

contrast to this, the Commerce District requires 20’ setbacks on all sides, has a 10’ narrower 
frontage requirement, and allows up to 80% lot coverage. These variations in dimensional 
requirements could allow for vastly different developments on the subject parcels.  
 

Table 4. Dimensional Requirements for the Low Density & Commerce Districts. 
Dimensional Standard Low Density Commerce 

Minimum Lot Area 10,000 sf 15,000 sf 
Minimum Lot Width at Building Line 70 ft - 
Minimum Road Frontage 60 ft  50 ft 
Minimum Front Setback 15 ft 20 ft  

Minimum Rear Setback 20 ft 
20 ft  

(50 ft setback required if abutting a 
residential district) 

Minimum Side Setback 10 ft 20 ft 
Maximum Building Coverage 35% 80% 
Maximum Impervious Coverage 45% 80% 
Minimum Green / Open Space 55% 20% 
Maximum Stories Above Grade 2 3* 
Maximum Building Height 35 ft 42 ft* 

*See Use Standard 8.3.1.C.2.c for additional Dwelling, Multifamily height allowances. 
 

IMPLICATIONS OF THE PROPOSED CHANGE: 
Density of Development: 
The proposed map amendment would create a swath of commercially zoned parcels along Pearl 
St & Winchester St with the abutting parcels to the north, northwest, and west remaining part of 
the Low Density District. This change would greatly increase the number of allowed uses on these 
lots, thereby opening up multiple opportunities for commercial development in this area in the 
form of multi-family dwellings, retail/office space, or even mixed-use developments. 
 
Provision of City Water & Sewer Service: 
These parcels have existing City water and sewer service connections along Pearl St and 
Winchester St, which is a requirement in both the Low Density and Commerce Districts. Any future 
development on these lots will need to include an evaluation of whether the existing utilities in 
this area have sufficient capacity to serve the proposed use(s). 
 
Recommendations: 
If the Committee is inclined to approve this request, the following language is recommended for 
the motion for each board: 
 

Planning Board Motion: “To find proposed Ordinance, 0-2025-28, consistent with the 2010 
Comprehensive Master Plan.” 

 
Planning, License & Development Committee Motion: “To recommend that the Mayor set 
a public hearing date.” 

19 of 31



20 of 31



21 of 31



22 of 31



23 of 31



24 of 31



ORDINANCE O-2025-28 

 

CITY  OF  KEENE  

  
In the Year of Our Lord Two Thousand and              Twenty Five 
 
AN ORDINANCE     Relating to Amendments to the Zoning Map – Low Density to Commerce – 

Intersection of Pearl Street and Winchester Street  
 

Be it ordained by the City Council of the City of Keene, as follows: 
 

That Article 2.4 “ZONING MAP”, of the City of Keene, NH Land Development Code (LDC), as amended, 
be and is hereby further amended by changing the zoning designation on the "1977 Amended Zoning Map of 
the City of Keene", as adopted by the Keene City Council on September 1, 2021, as part of Article entitled, 
"ESTABLISHMENT OF ZONING REGULATIONS & DISTRICTS", of the said LAND DEVELOPMENT 
CODE (LDC), from Low Density (LD) to Commerce (COM), on the following parcels so that the entire 
parcels will be designated Commerce (COM): 

 
592-019-000-000-000 0 Winchester Street 

592-020-000-000-000 291 Winchester Street 

592-021-000-000-000 371 Pearl Street 

593-003-000-000-000 305 Winchester Street 

593-004-000-000-000 363 Pearl Street 

593-005-000-000-000 347 Pearl Street 

593-006-000-000-000 339 Pearl Street 

593-007-000-000-000 331 Pearl Street 

 

_________________________________ 
Jay V. Kahn, Mayor 

 

25 of 31



MEMORANDUM 
 
 

To:  Joint Committee of the Planning Board and PLD Committee 

From:  Evan J. Clements, AICP – Planner/Deputy Zoning Administrator 

Date:  August 29, 2025  

Subject:  O-2025-29 Relating to Cross Site Access Exception from the Parking Lot Pavement 
Setback 

 
 
 
Overview 
This Ordinance proposes to amend Section 9.4.2 “Dimensions & Siting” subsection A 
“Setbacks” to create an exception to the parking lot pavement setback requirement to allow for 
cross site access drive aisles across property lines. The intent of this change is to promote 
vehicular traffic movements between commercial properties without the need for vehicles to 
travel from one property to the next on the public right-of-way. This change will reduce the 
amount of “short hops” from one plaza to the next as patrons travel to nearby stores. This 
change will also create flexibility for businesses that operate across multiple parcels and are 
looking to create internal connections to each side of the operation. The proposal includes 
some requirements for cross-access connections including size, location, access agreements, 
and planning review. 

Background 
 
Parking Lot Regulations Overview 
 
The City of Keene Parking & Driveway Regulations is in Article 9 of the Land Development Code, 
which is part of the zoning regulations for the City. The purpose of these regulations is to: 
 
“The intent of these parking and driveway standards is to address the following objectives. 
 

1. Ensure the provision of on-site vehicle parking for individual sites that supports the needs of 
existing and future uses. 

2. Promote safe and efficient circulation of pedestrians, motorists, and bicyclists into, within, 
and out of parking areas. 

3. Allow flexibility in addressing vehicle parking, loading and access issues, recognizing that 
both too little and too much parking can create negative impacts. 

4. Ensure appropriate site location and design features that mitigate the impact of parking on 
other land uses and surrounding neighborhoods. 

5. Promote parking designs that minimize runoff and incorporate infiltration of stormwater into 
the ground.” 

 
 
 

26 of 31



This Article of the Land Development Code outlines on-site parking requirements based on use 
and zoning, driveway design standards for single and two-family properties, design standards for 
commercial parking lots, and design standards for parking structures. These sections contain 
dimensional requirements for parking spaces, drive aisles, locations for parking areas, surface 
material and grade requirements, landscaping, and setbacks. 
 
Section 9.4 of this Article outlines all of the requirements for parking lots within the City. 
Subsection 9.4.2 outlines the dimensional and siting requirements for parking lots and includes 
setbacks, parking space dimensions and angulation, travel lane width, and location of the parking 
lot. Table 9-2 below lists the minimum required parking lot surface setback from property lines. 
The surface setback is dependent upon the size of the parking lot and the location of the property 
line closest to which it will be located. 
 

 
 
 
 
This section states that aside from what is listed in Table 9-4, these setbacks are required for all 
uses besides single-family and two-family dwellings. Table 9-4 is specific to the City’s Downtown 
Zoning Districts and are related to the Form Based Codes that the regulations for these districts 
are designed around. Based on Table 9-4, there is an allowance for pavement up to the property 
line and across it to create cross site access. Outside of the downtown districts, cross access 
between properties is prohibited due to the pavement setback requirements. 
 

 

Fig 1: Table 9-2 from section 9.4 of the LDC. 

Fig 2: Example from part of Table 9-4 from section 9.4 of the LDC showing specific parking 
lot regulations for downtown districts. 

27 of 31



Cross Site Access Overview 

Cross Site Access is a form of Access Management, which is one of aspects of land use 
management and one of the Planning Board’s Site Development Standards in Article 21 of the 
Land Development Code. Access Management involves the planning and coordination of the 
location, number, spacing, and design of access points from the public right-of-way onto adjacent 
property. This allows for efficient control of vehicle movements by reducing conflicts and 
maximizing the traffic capacity of roadways. Well-planned access management systems 
facilitate safe access to land along roadways while promoting and supporting an efficient street 
system and unified access and internal site circulation for development. 
 
A Cross Site Access is the continuation of a parking lot drive aisle across a property line that 
allows vehicles to travel from one property to another without having to re-enter the street system. 
These connections can have a one- or two-way traffic flow. Examples of these connections 
currently exist throughout the City and are especially prevalent along the existing major 
commercial corridors, such as West St. The picture below is an example of a cross-site 
connection between the West Street Shopping Center and the adjacent property at 465 West St. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Fig 3: Ariel imagery of existing cross site access connections 
circled in red between the West St Shopping Center and 465 

West St. 

28 of 31



Discussion 
 
This ordinance proposes to make an exception from the parking lot pavement setback 
requirement to allow for the creation of cross site access connections over property boundaries. 
The exception will codify an established traffic management technique that already exists in 
many built up commercial areas of the City. The proposal includes width requirements of the 
access point depending on one-way or two-way traffic, provisions for adequate sight lines, and 
other safety measures. The exception highlights the need for mutual access agreements between 
property owners, if ownership differs, and that planning review will be required prior to the 
establishment of a new cross site access point. 
 
Currently, if a property owner wanted to create a cross-site access point, they would need to 
obtain a Variance from the Zoning Board of Adjustment from the parking lot pavement setback 
requirements. This traffic management tool is a technique that should be encouraged to reduce 
traffic pressure on roadways along the City’s commercial corridors. Instead, it is currently 
prohibited and requires significant time and effort to receive approval. This Ordinance would not 
only allow this technique to be utilized by property owners, but provides a reasonable level of 
review to approve these connections. 
 
 
Consistency with the Comprehensive Master Plan (CMP) 
 
The 2010 Comprehensive Master Plan recognizes that, in order to promote a “Quality Built 
Environment,” a complete transportation system with efficient transportation infrastructure is 
required. The plan articulates a variety of transportation strategies to improve efficiency and 
safety. The plan states that: 
 
“The linkage between transportation systems and land use and development was a critical 
consideration in the development of transportation strategies. This linkage is crucial to planning and 
implementing a transportation system that efficiently and safely serves the region’s wide range of 
activities and uses. The transportation system must adequately serve all areas within Keene, now 
and in the future.” 
 
This proposal furthers the goal of this section of the Master Plan by allowing vehicular traffic to 
navigate along developed commercial areas of the City in a controlled, safe way, that reduces 
traffic congestion on roadways. It also provides less hassle for customers who are visiting 
multiple locations without having to wait for traffic signals or make difficult turns when exiting 
one location to reach another plaza or business that is adjacent but inaccessible. 
 
Recommendations: 
If the Committee is inclined to approve this request, the following language is recommended for 
the motion for each board: 
 

Planning Board Motion: “To find proposed Ordinance, 0-2025-29, consistent with the 2010 
Comprehensive Master Plan.” 

 
Planning, License & Development Committee Motion: “To recommend that the Mayor set a 
public hearing date.” 

 

29 of 31



ORDINANCE O-2025-29 

 

CITY  OF  KEENE  

  
In the Year of Our Lord Two Thousand and              Twenty Five 
 
AN ORDINANCE     Relating to Pavement Setbacks and Cross Site Access 

 

Be it ordained by the City Council of the City of Keene, as follows: 
 
That Chapter 100 of the Code of Ordinances of the City of Keene, New Hampshire, as amended, is hereby further 
amended by deleting the stricken text and adding the bolded and underlined text, as follows: 
 

1. That Section 9.4.2 “Dimensions & Siting,” subsection A “Setbacks” be amended to create an exception for 
cross site access over property lines, as follows: 
 

A. 1. Drive aisles that provide vehicular connections across property lines shall be exempt from parking 
lot surface setbacks with the following requirements: 

a. The connection shall be a minimum of 22 feet in width for two-way traffic and 11 feet for 
one-way traffic, as measured along a lot line or boundary between separate properties. 

b. Connections shall be far enough from the front property line to promote vehicular and 
pedestrian safety.  

c. The connection shall be an extension of a travel lane of the subject parking lot and align to 
the maximum extent practicable with a travel lane on any adjacent parking lot. 

d. Adequate site lines shall be provided. 
e. Shared access agreements between properties shall be required where necessary. 
f. Planning review shall be required per Section 26.12.3. 

 
 
 

 
 

 

 

 

_________________________________ 
Jay V. Kahn, Mayor 

 

30 of 31



Keene, NH Land Development Code | February 2025 Zoning Regulations | 9-9 

C.	 Driveways and associated parking space(s) shall 
not have a slope greater than 15%. 

9.3.5 Long Driveways

Driveways longer than 300-ft shall meet the 
following standards. 

A.	 Shall be limited in width to 10-ft, in order to 
minimize site disruptions. 

B.	 Every 300-ft there shall be an improved turnout, 
which is at least 8-ft wide and 15-ft long. 

C.	 Shall include at its terminus a vehicular 
turnaround as described for dead-end streets in 
Article 22. 

D.	 If the driveway slope is greater than 10%, the 
first 20-ft from the public road shall be at a slope 
of 5% or less. 

9.4.6 Driveways Crossing Steep Slopes

For driveways located in or crossing prohibitive and 
precautionary slopes, as defined in Article 12 Hillside 
Protection Overlay District, the following standards 
shall apply.

A.	 Driveway route shall follow the natural contours 
of the existing slope to minimize disturbance of 
vegetation and soils. 

B.	 Cutting and filling of slopes to construct a 
driveway shall comply with applicable grading 
standards of Article 12. 

C.	 Shared driveways shall be used to avoid 
entering into or crossing precautionary slope 
areas and to reduce grading, paving and site 
disturbance. 

9.4 PARKING LOT DESIGN STANDARDS

9.4.1 Applicability

Section 9.4 shall apply only to parking lots or parking 
spaces that are associated with uses other than 
single- and two-family dwellings. 

9.4.2 Dimensions & Siting

A.	 Setbacks. Unless otherwise specified in Table 
9-4 or elsewhere in this LDC, the setbacks for 
paved and unpaved parking lots and travel 
surfaces associated with all uses other than 
single-family and two-family dwellings are listed 
in Table 9-2. 

1.	 Drive aisles that provide vehicular 
connections across property lines shall be 
exempt from parking lot surface setbacks 
with the following requirements:

a.	 The connection shall be a minimum of 
22 feet in width for two-way traffic 
and 11 feet for one-way traffic, as 
measured along a lot line or boundary 
between separate properties.

b.	 Connections shall be far enough from 
the front property line to promote 
vehicular and pedestrian safety.

c.	 The connection shall be an extension 
of a travel lane of the subject parking 
lot and align to the maximum extent 
practicable with a travel lane on any 
adjacent parking lot.

d.	 Adequate site lines shall be provided.

e.	 Shared access agreements between 
properties shall be required where 
necessary.

f.	 Planning review shall be required per 
Section 26.12.3.

Table 9-2: Travel & Parking Surface Setbacks

Parking Lot Size

Min Setback

Front Side/Rear

≤10,000 sf 8 ft 8 ft

31 of 31


	2025_09_08_PB & PLD agenda_AMENDED
	2025_07_14_PB-PLD_Minutes_Edited
	Ordinance_O-2025-28 Mini Packet (includes SR)
	SR_Ordinance_O-2025-28
	Intent of the Zoning Districts:

	Application_07-24-25
	Narrative_07-24-25
	Map_07-24-25
	O-2025-28_Draft Ordinance Language

	Ordinance_O-2025-29 Mini Packet
	Staff Report O-2025-29.pdf
	MEMORANDUM

	O-2025-29_Cross Site Access Exception.pdf
	Article 9_Parking.pdf




